67456-1

.

÷

67456-1

0

No. 67456-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING COUNTY DISTRICT COURT, WEST DIVISION, Judge Mark Chow, and KING COUNTY DISTRICT COURT, EAST DIVISION, Judge David Steiner, and KING COUNTY DISTRICT COURT, SOUTH DIVISION, Judge Darrell Phillipson, BRETT R. BALLOW, and LESLIE P. FAUSTO,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

THEODORE W. VOSK

WSBA No. 30166 Of Counsel for Cowan, Kirk & Gaston 4040 Lake Washington Blvd. #300 Kirkland, WA 98030 (425) 753-6343 tvosk@comcast.net

RYAN BOYD ROBERTSON

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is about providing meaning to scientific measurements in a courtroom. A breath alcohol concentration (BrAC) test is a scientific measurement of the alcohol concentration in a person's breath sample. Despite a machine's accuracy or precision, the result from any machine contains an unavoidable level of uncertainty. A BrAC test result is merely an approximation of the individual's true BrAC. The uncertainty tells the trier of fact how close the approximation may be to the true value.

This limitation on scientific evidence has been recognized by our Courts in the context of DNA evidence. Evidence of a DNA "match" must be accompanied by an appropriate estimate of the likelihood [i.e. uncertainty] that a conclusion isolating the defendant from other persons can be drawn. In other words, *"[W]ithout the probability assessment [i.e. uncertainty], … the jury does not know whether the [DNA] patterns are as common as pictures with two eyes, or as unique as the Mona Lisa.*"¹

Appellants are simply asking for the same standard to be applied to scientific evidence in a DUI case.

¹ <u>U.S v. Yee</u>, 134 F.R.F.D 161, 181 (N.D. Ohio 1991).

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

8 Q

1.5

 Did the superior court err in reversing the district court decision that requires the State to introduce a statement of uncertainty with each BrAC test result introduced at trial to comply with ER 702?

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. This Court has identified the sole issue for consideration on appeal:

"In a DUI prosecution, where RCW 46.61.506(4) provides that the results of a "breath test performed by any instrument approved by the state shall be admissible" at a criminal trial so long as the requirements of that statutory provision are met, do ER 702, <u>City of Fircrest v. Jensen</u>, 158 Wn.2d 384, 143 P.3d 776 (2006), <u>City of Seattle v. Clark-Munoz</u>, 152 Wn.2d 39, 93 P.3d 141 (2004), <u>State v. Cauthron</u>, 120 Wn.2d 879, 846 P.2d 502 (1993), and related authorities, mandate that the introduction into evidence of the results of an otherwise valid breath alcohol test must be coupled with the government's introduction into evidence of the Washington Toxicology Laboratory Division's calculated "confidence interval" applicable to that test?"²

² See Order Granting Discretionary Review; entered December 15, 2011.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History.

Brett Ballow and Leslie Fausto were arrested in King County,

Washington, for Driving Under the Influence (of intoxicants) and

submitted to breath alcohol content ("BrAC") testing. Due to a prior

ruling in the district courts, known as "Ahmach³," such tests were

not admissible at trial.

The King County Prosecutor's Office requested a hearing

under local rule – LCrRLJ 8.2(2)⁴ – for the district court to convene

a hearing to review the Ahmach ruling to decide whether to lift the

³ <u>State v. Ahmach, et al</u>, King County District Court Case No. C00627921. The issues involved in this ruling are not relevant to the present case. <u>Ahmach</u> is noted merely for historical reference.

⁴ (2) <u>Motion of Countywide Significance</u>. Upon the filing of a motion in a criminal case, any party may request that such motion be designated as an "issue of countywide significance". A judge in any division of the Court may, on his/her own motion or upon receiving such a request from a party, request of the Presiding Judge that such motion be designated as an "issue of countywide significance". Upon receiving such request from a judge, the Presiding Judge may designate such motion as an "issue of county-wide significance".

Upon designation of a motion as an "issue of countywide significance", the Presiding Judge shall assign three judges to act as a panel to hear the motion. The panel of judges shall hear testimony and argument and enter Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decision ("Ruling") on the motion. Judges of the Court shall then have the following options: (1) accept such Ruling in its entirety; (2) not accept such Ruling and schedule a hearing before such judge for the presentation of testimony and argument; or (3) accept the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, in whole or in part, and make a separate Decision thereon. The record made before such panel shall be taken before a court reporter and a transcript shall be made available to any judge of the Court upon his or her request. Copies of the transcript shall be made available through the court reporter to any person upon payment of the costs of transcription.

suppression order.⁵ Within this hearing the defendants, including Ballow and Fausto, raised the issue herein; that in accordance with ER 702 the State must present a corresponding statement of uncertainty related to BrAC test results to admit the evidence at trial.⁶ A three judge panel lifted the Ahmach suppression order, but agreed with the defendants that a statement of uncertainty must be introduced to admit the test results at trial.⁷

The State sought a Writ of Review before the King County Superior Court.⁸ The superior court partially reversed the district court decision.⁹ The defendants sought discretionary review with the Court of Appeals. This Court granted review.

2. District Court Decision.

A. Findings of Fact.

The King County District Court convened a five day hearing before a three judge panel devoted exclusively to the issues of lifting the Ahmach suppression order and addressing the defense motion regarding statements of uncertainty with breath test

⁵ CP 29-30. ⁶ CP 20. ⁷ CP 28-29. ⁸ CP 1.

CP 993-999.

results.¹⁰ The court heard testimony from the State Toxicologist Ms. Fiona Couper, laboratory supervisor Jason Sklerov, former head of the Breath Test Section of the toxicology department Rod Gullberg, and University of Washington professor Dr. Ashley Emory.¹¹

The trial court ruling covers 31 pages; 17 of which contain findings of the court based on the testimony and records presented.¹² The State did not challenge any of these findings before the Superior Court.¹³ Un-challenged findings are verities on appeal. State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564. 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). However, a brief review of the findings is necessary to understand the issue raised on appeal.

Finding Regarding General Scientific Community

- Instrument bias (systemic error) is the tendency of an • instrument to consistently report values that are artificially elevated or depressed compared to the true value of a measured item (measurand). All measuring instruments have bias associated with them. If measurement results are not corrected for bias then the results will be artificially elevated or depressed compared to the true value of the measurand.14
- ¹⁰ CP 20.
- ¹¹ CP 55-56; CP 129-723.
- ¹² CP 20-50. ¹³ CP 1-92.
- 14 CP 21.

- Methods of determining and correcting for instrument bias are commonly used and accepted in the scientific community. It is generally accepted in the scientific community that all reported instrument results will be corrected for bias.¹⁵
- Every measurement is "uncertain," in that no matter how good the instrument or the methodology, one can never know for sure the actual value of the measurand. Every measurement is merely an approximation and for any measurement there are an infinite number of values dispersed within a range around the value obtained by the measurement that are consistent with the measured value, and that with varying degrees of credibility can be attributed to the true value of the measurand.¹⁶
- Measurement uncertainty is a quantitative statement characterizing the dispersion (range) of values that can be actually and reasonably be attributed to the measurand. Every measurement made by every instrument has an uncertainty associated with it. In order to determine the uncertainty of a measurement, bias must first be corrected for. There are many methods for calculating and showing uncertainty. One such method, now adopted by the WTLD, is a confidence interval.¹⁷
- Given the inherent variability of measurement, a statement of a measurement result is incomplete without a statement of the accompanying estimate of uncertainty, (i.e., the range of values within which the value of the measurand can be said to lie within a specified level of confidence).¹⁸
- ¹⁵ CP 22.

۰,

- ¹⁶ CP 22.
- 17 CP 22.
- ¹⁸ CP 22.

- It is well accepted in the scientific community that testing laboratories will use procedures for estimating uncertainty of measurement whenever possible.¹⁹
- It is well accepted within the scientific community that a statement on the estimated uncertainty of measurement is needed for a test reports when it is relevant to the validity or application of the test result, or when the uncertainty affects compliance to a specific standard. A decision not to calculate uncertainty is not appropriate under generally accepted scientific principles.²⁰
- It is generally accepted in the scientific community that forensic reports, and testimony from them, must include a clear descriptor of the limitation of the analysis, that is, of the uncertainty.²¹
- Knowledge of the uncertainty associated with measurement results is essential to the proper interpretation of the results. Without quantitative assessment of uncertainty it is impossible to determine if statutory minimum limits have been exceeded. It is generally accepted within the scientific community that:
 - All results from every forensic test made should indicate the uncertainty in the measurements that are made.
 - Forensic reports, and any courtroom testimony stemming from them, must include the limitations of the analysis, including probabilities where possible.²²
- There are many methods of estimating the uncertainty which are recognized within the scientific community. WTLD uses a
- ¹⁹ CP 24.

²⁰ CP 24-25.

²¹ CP 25.

²² CP 25.

confidence interval system developed by Rod Gullberg. The particular method chosen to determine uncertainty lies entirely within the purview of the WTLD.²³

ISO 17025, General Requirements for the Competence of Testing and Calibration Laboratories, is a standard recognized throughout the general scientific community as specifying the general requirements for the competence to carry out tests and/or calibrations. ISO 17025 has been accepted by the Washington Toxicology Laboratory as the standard for their accreditation and work. ISO and other standard setting organizations have required that uncertainty be included in measurement reports.²⁴

Breath Testing

- The field of forensic breath testing recognizes that there is • some bias associated with every breath test instrument, and every breath test. Even the appropriate application of all protocols will not eliminate bias. Bias or systemic error in BrAC results must be determined and the results corrected for the bias. To correct a result, the bias value must be added to (or subtracted from) the indicated result. The failure to correct for bias leads to the reporting of a value known to be in error.²⁵
- The WTLD determines the bias of every DataMaster at least . annually at the time of each instruments' annual Quality Assurance Procedure (QAP). BrAC results are never corrected for bias, however, unless a specific request is made by a defense attorney or defendant. Except in those few cases where a request has been made, inherent bias causes the test values reported by every Datamaster in Washington State to be artificially high (or low) as compared

 ~ 2

²³ CP 25.

²⁴ CP 24. ²⁵ CP 25.

with the true value of an individual's BrAC. The Datamaster can be, but is not in Washington, programmed to calculate the bias adjustment automatically and print out the corrected values. Without correcting for bias, all values reported by the Datamaster are artificially skewed by an amount up to 5%.²⁶

- The best estimate of an individual's true BAC reading is the . bias corrected mean of the values reported by the Datamaster. The bias corrected mean may, when compared to the actual readings, produce a substantially different result. The bias corrected mean may produce results below the legal thresholds (.02, .04, .08, .15) even when the actual test readings are both above the minimum level. In this situation there is a greater than 50% chance that the actual BAC reading is below the legal threshold. The failure to correct for bias may result in erroneous conclusions regarding whether a particular individual's BrAC is above or below a legal limit.27
- All BrAC measurements have uncertainty and so represent a range of values, any of which could represent the true value with a given level of confidence. Even the appropriate application of all protocols will not eliminate measurement uncertainty. Thus, no reliable result can be reported without an estimate of uncertainty. It is impossible to determine the likelihood that the result of a breath test actually exceeds the legal limit without determining the uncertainty of the test.²⁸
- The uncertainty associated with BrAC testing will vary from • one machine to another and from one QAP to another.²⁹
- The confidence interval of a Datamaster result can be . calculated using algebra and a statistical table. This is likely beyond the capabilities of most defendants, jurors, attorneys

- ²⁶ CP 27. ²⁷ CP 26. ²⁸ CP 27.
- ²⁹ CP 25.

and judges. Upon request the WTLD will calculate the bias and uncertainty associated with a particular test. Absent a request, the WTLD makes no report or mention of bias or uncertainty.30

- Absent the reporting of uncertainty, there is a substantial . possibility that even an expert would not make a meaningful analysis of a particular breath reading. Testimony revealed that many BAC readings in excess of .08, when considered in light of the confidence interval, are likely to have actual readings less than .08. The top three officials of the WTLD were unable to accurately determine a true BAC without an uncertainty calculation.31
- The WTLD uses a common spreadsheet program to correct . for bias and calculate uncertainty. At the time of the QAP, the uncertainty range for all possible BrAC readings can be calculated for each Datamaster and are valid through the time of the next QAP.32

B. Analysis.

The district court, relying on City of Fircrest v. Jensen, 33

State v. Cauthron,³⁴ and ER 702, held that breath test results were

incomplete without an associated statement of uncertainty.³⁵

Therefore, breath test evidence would not be admitted at trial

unless the State produced such statement for each test.

³⁰ CP 25.

³¹ CP 28.

³² CP 28.

 ³³ 158 Wn.2d 384, 143 P.3d 776 (2006).
 ³⁴ 120 Wn.2d 879, 846 P.2d 502 (1993).

³⁵ CP 45-48.

3. Writ of Review.

The State sought review and superior court partly reversed. Acknowledging the relevance of a statement of uncertainty under ER 702, the court nonetheless held the district court erred as a matter of law where it mandated suppression of BrAC test evidence in cases where the State fails to present such evidence.³⁶ Instead, the decision to suppress must be made on a case-by-case basis.³⁷

³⁶ CP 996-997. ³⁷ CP 997.

V. ARGUMENT

1. To Meet Requirements Of ER 702 Must The State Introduce A Statement Of Uncertainty For A BAC Test In A DUI Trial?

"If the citizens of [this State] are to have any confidence in the breath-testing program, that program has to have some credence in the scientific community as a whole." Justice Chambers in <u>City of</u> <u>Seattle v. Clark-Munoz</u>, 152 Wn.2d 39, 47-48, 93 P..3d 141 (2004).

A. Standard of Review.

The interpretation of evidence rules is a question of law reviewed de novo. <u>State v. DeVincentis</u>, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). Review of a court's application of an evidentiary rule falls under abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Sanchez-Guillen</u>, 135 Wn. App. 636, 642, 145 P.3d 406 (2006). Here, the district court properly interpreted the requirements of ER 702 in relation to holding that statements of uncertainty are necessary to make BrAC test results helpful to the trier of fact. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that suppression was appropriate for failure to comply with this evidentiary requirement.

B. BAC Testing Is Scientific Evidence Under ER 702.

The State has charged Ballow and Fausto each under the "per se" prong of the DUI statute.³⁸ RCW 46.61.502(1)(a). A person is guilty under this prong if, within two hours after driving, they have "an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or higher as shown by analysis of the person's breath or blood," and regardless of the presence or absence of any manifestations of alcohol intoxication.³⁹

In this context, however, "[b]reath test evidence alone is not conclusive proof of the per se offense." <u>State v. Brayman</u>, 110 Wn.2d 183, 191, 751 P.2d 294 (1988). The State always has the burden to "prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the machine was in proper working order *and* that the [BrAC⁴⁰] reading was a correct one." <u>State v. Brayman</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 192. [Emphasis added] That is, the State must prove an individual's actual BrAC exceeded the permissible threshold, not simply that the result from the breath test did. *City of Seattle v. Gellein*, 112 Wn.2d 58, 62-63, 768 P.2d 470

³⁸ CP 126-127.

³⁹ RCW 46.61.502(1)(a). Although a breath test's significance under the per se prong is evident, its practical effect on a finding pursuant to the "under the influence of or affected by" prong may be no less profound. Even on the "under the influence" prong, "evidence of intoxication is far stronger where there is a positive blood (or breath) alcohol test." <u>State v.</u> <u>Cohen</u>, 125 Wn. App. 220, 225, 104 P.3d 70 (2005). And see <u>State v. Garthe</u>, 678 A.2d 153, 158 (N.J. 1996) ("[A] citizen's right to drive, and sometimes to liberty, will depend on the verdict of a machine.")

⁴⁰ Breath Alcohol Concentration.

768 P.2d 470 (1989). A per se violation of RCW 46.61.502 is defined by a citizen's actual BrAC, not a number produced by a machine. <u>Seattle v. Gellein</u>, 112 Wn.2d at 62-63.

Prosecution under RCW 46.61.502 requires the State to produce a BrAC test satisfying the requirements set forth under RCW 46.61.506. The State Toxicologist has been authorized to approve techniques and methods to obtain BrAC evidence.

RCW 46.61.506(4) sets forward a multi-step process for the use of an approved BrAC testing device to collect and analyze a defendant's breath sample.⁴¹ Compliance with these steps makes the test results admissible for use at trial. *City of Fircrest v. Jensen*, 158 Wn.2d 384, 397, 143 P.3d 776 (2006). Admission, however, is permissive. *Jensen*, at 399. The trial court may employ ER 702, as

⁴¹ (4)(a) A breath test performed by any instrument approved by the state toxicologist shall be admissible at trial or in an administrative proceeding if the prosecution or department produces prima facie evidence of the following: (i) The person who performed the test was authorized to perform such test by the state toxicologist; (ii) The person being tested did not vomit or have anything to eat, drink, or smoke for at least fifteen minutes prior to administration of the test; (iii) The person being tested did not have any foreign substances, not to include dental work, fixed or removable, in his or her mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period; (iv) Prior to the start of the test, the temperature of any liquid simulator solution utilized as an external standard, as measured by a thermometer approved of by the state toxicologist was thirty-four degrees centigrade plus or minus 0.3 degrees centigrade; (v) The internal standard test resulted in the message "verified"; (vi) The two breath samples agree to within plus or minus ten percent of their mean to be determined by the method approved by the state toxicologist; (vii) The result of the test of the liquid simulator solution external standard or dry gas external standard result did lie between .072 to .088 inclusive; and (viii) All blank tests gave results of .000.

it would with any scientific evidence, to determine whether BrAC results will be admitted. Jensen, at 398.

Jensen is instructive because the State argued that the admission standards set forward in RCW 46.61.506(4) was the legislature's attempt to place BrAC evidence "on the same level as other scientific tests, such as DNA tests results." Jensen, at 397; and see State v. Canaday, 90 Wn.2d 808, 813, 585 P.2d 1185 (1978) (Holding that Frye⁴² is standard for admission of BAC testing in Washington State.). The Court agreed. Id.

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