67456-1

157456-1

SEP 10 7017

NO. 67456-1-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION I** 

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

KING COUNTY DISTRICT COURT, WEST DIVISION, Judge Mark Chow, and KING COUNTY DISTRICT COURT, EAST DIVISION, Judge David Steiner, and KING COUNTY DISTRICT COURT, SOUTH DIVISION, Judge Darrell Phillipson, BRETT R. BALLOW, and LESLIE P. FAUSTO,

Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE JUDGE RONALD KESSLER

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG -King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JESSICA MURPHY MANCA Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

#### 1. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

The district court erred by imposing confidence intervals as a foundational requirement under ER 702. Confidence intervals may be relevant to challenge the *weight* of the breath test result at trial, once the statutorily-defined foundational requirements of RCW 46.61.506(4) are satisfied, but do not bear on the *admissibility* of the results themselves.<sup>6</sup>

- (i) The person who performed the test was authorized to perform such test by the state toxicologist;
- The person being tested did not vomit or have anything to eat, drink, or smoke for at least fifteen minutes prior to administration of the test;
- (iii) The person being tested did not have any foreign substances, not to include dental work, fixed or removable, in his or her mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period;
- (iv) Prior to the start of the test, the temperature of any liquid simulator solution utilized as an external standard, as measured by a thermometer approved of by the state toxicologist was thirty-four degrees centigrade plus or minus 0.3 degrees centigrade;
- (v) The internal standard test resulted in the message "verified";
- (vi) The two breath samples agree to within plus or minus ten percent of their mean to be determined by the method approved by the state toxicologist;
- (vii) The result of the test of the liquid simulator solution external standard or dry gas external standard result did lie between .072 to .088 inclusive; and
- (viii) All blank tests gave results of .000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The eight foundational requirements under RCW 46.61.506(4) are:

Furthermore, the district court erred by requiring WSTLD to produce confidence intervals as a foundational requirement. The district court reasoned that confidence intervals are required because the concept of measurement variability is generally accepted within the broad scientific community. This was error, because breath test results without confidence intervals are *also* generally accepted within the scientific community.

The district court intended its unprecedented decision to "serve as a catalyst" to move the forensic science community toward "new, better practices." CP 39, 41. In so ruling, however, the district court usurped the role of the legislature, which has clearly defined the foundational requirements for admission of a breath test result, the role of the Washington State Toxicologist, who has exclusive authority to approve methods for breath test analysis, and the function of the scientific community, which is the proper body to debate the merits of adopting a particular scientific method.

#### 2. MEASUREMENT VARIABILITY GOES TO THE WEIGHT OF THE BREATH TEST RESULT, NOT ITS ADMISSIBILITY.

Confidence intervals are nothing more than a description of a measurement's accuracy. These intervals describe the likelihood that the true value of a breath test measurement falls within a certain range of values. However, statistically, the reported breath test result is still the best estimate of the measurement's true value.

The legislature has explicitly stated that challenges to the accuracy of a breath test go to the weight of the evidence not its admissibility. RCW 46.61.506(4); see also Jensen, 158 Wn.2d at 399 ("The legislature has made clear its intention to make BAC test results fully admissible once the State has met its prima facie burden."). Although a court may consider the relevance and reliability of scientific evidence in any particular case, neither ER 702 nor  $\underline{Frye}^{7}$  allows the court to impose *foundational* accuracy or certainty requirements beyond those defined by statute or generally accepted within the relevant scientific community.

If a scientific test is generally accepted by the relevant scientific community, "lack of certainty . . . goes to the weight to be given the [expert's] testimony, not to its admissibility." <u>State v.</u>

- 12 - `

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

<u>Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). "Rule 702 does not require any particular degree of certainty for admissibility." 5D Karl B. Tegland, <u>Washington Practice: Courtroom Handbook on</u> <u>Washington Evidence</u> 379 (2011-12 ed.). Generally, "an expert's lack of certainty goes to the weight of the testimony, not its admissibility." <u>State v. Lord</u>, 117 Wn.2d 829, 853-55, 822 P.2d 177 (1991); <u>see also State v. Mitchell</u>, 102 Wn. App. 21, 27, 997 P.2d 373, 376 (2000) (holding that, under ER 702, an expert is allowed to express an opinion that a certain outcome is "possible"); <u>State v.</u> <u>Batten</u>, 17 Wn. App. 428, 437-38, 563 P.2d 1287 (1977) (holding that an expert's opinion that two hair samples "could have" come from the same person was admissible notwithstanding the expert's inability to "state categorically" that the two samples came from the same person).

Similarly, challenges to the accuracy of a scientific test generally do not render the results of that test inadmissible. Unless laboratory error rates are so serious as to render the results of a scientific test unreliable, error rates generally go to the weight of the evidence not its admissibility. <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d 759, 830, 147 P.3d 1201, 1239 (2006); <u>State v. Copeland</u>, 130 Wn.2d 244, 270, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). Other challenges that affect

- 13 -

accuracy or reliability have been held to be matters of weight, not admissibility. <u>Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d at 829-30 (deviations from scientific protocol); <u>Ludvigsen v. City of Seattle</u>, 162 Wn.2d 660, 681-82, 174 P.3d 43 (2007) (Madsen, J., concurring) (same); <u>State</u> <u>v. Kalakosky</u>, 121 Wn.2d 525, 543, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993) (same); <u>City of Seattle v. Allison</u>, 148 Wn.2d 75, 86, 59 P.3d 85 (2002); (variances in the temperature of breath test simulator solution); 5B Karl B. Tegland, <u>Washington Practice: Evidence Law &</u> <u>Practice</u> § 702.18 (5th ed. 2007) ("objections to the manner in which [scientific] theories and methods were applied in the case at hand").

Similarly, courts throughout the country agree that the variability of a breath test measurement goes to the weight of the breath test result, not its admissibility. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>People v. McNeal</u>, 210 P.3d 420, 431 (Cal. 2009) ("Defense evidence [of the variability between a breath test measurement and a blood test measurement] is relevant to rebut the presumption that the defendant was intoxicated, but not to remove the presumption altogether"); <u>State v. Kuhl</u>, 755 N.W.2d 389, 399 (Neb. 2008) (holding that a defendant was not entitled to adjust his breath test result for margin of error as a matter of law because margin of error

- 14 -

is a question for the trier of fact); <u>State v. Damon</u>, 119 P.3d 1194, 1199 (Mont. 2005) ("Criticisms of specific applications of procedures or concerns about the accuracy of test results do not render a scientific theory and methodology invalid or destroy its general acceptance"); <u>Guitierrez v. State</u>, 497 S.E.2d 898, 899 (Ga. 1997) ("[T]he fact that a [breath] testing procedure has some margin for error or may give an erroneous result under certain circumstances relates to the weight, rather than the admissibility of the test results"); <u>State v. Downie</u>, 569 A.2d 242, 251 (N.J. 1990) (holding that a 2.3% margin of error did not preclude the admissibility of the breath test result); <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 717 S.W.2d 298, 305 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1986) (holding that margin of error and other inaccuracies in a breath test result "go to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility").

A test administered in compliance with WSTLD procedures and protocols meets the foundational requirements for admissibility under RCW 46.61.506(4), and meets the <u>Frye</u> standard for accuracy and reliability within the scientific community. CP 484-86, 994; <u>State v. Straka</u>, 116 Wn.2d 859, 870, 810 P.2d 888 (1991); <u>State v. Ford</u>, 110 Wn.2d 827, 833, 755 P.2d 806 (1988). In a DUI case, a certified breath test technician and forensic toxicologist are

- 15 -

qualified as experts by reason of specialized scientific and technical knowledge, and their testimony will "assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." ER 702. When all of the foregoing requirements are met, the breath test results are presumptively admissible in a DUI case. Challenges to the accuracy of the test, including measurement variability, go to the weight of the breath test result, not its admissibility.

#### 3. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS APPLICATION OF ER 702.

WSTLD is the *only* breath test program in the United States to measure uncertainty. Other than WSTLD, no other state laboratory routinely publishes confidence intervals for breath tests. Even beyond the forensic breath test community, the relevant scientific communities of forensic science, laboratory medicine, and clinical medicine do not express measurement variability with their test results. For example, when clinical laboratories report test results to doctors and patients, they typically do not report uncertainty with those results. CP 244, 982. Similarly, federal drug testing programs do not report uncertainty with urine test results. RP 253. Nevertheless, the district court held that, pursuant to ER 702, it can *require* the relevant scientific community to adopt a new practice that is not generally accepted within that community. What emerges from the district court's opinion is a clear desire to "serve as a catalyst" for the forensic science and biological testing communities. CP 39, 41. However, ER 702 exists to ensure that evidence is considered reliable within the relevant scientific community, not to encourage the relevant scientific community to adopt new scientific practices. Accordingly, the district court's application of ER 702 exceeded its authority under that rule.

In some circumstances, uncertainty calculations may be helpful to the trier of fact. The State does not contend otherwise. In fact, the State has expended significant effort to develop a method for calculating confidence intervals and to make those calculations publicly available. But there is a fundamental difference between recognizing that confidence intervals may add value to a breath test measurement and holding, as the district court did in this case, that an otherwise reliable and accurate breath test result is *unhelpful* to the trier of fact without such a calculation. The superior court properly held that the district court erred in its

- 17 -

unprecedented application of ER 702, and that decision should be affirmed.

#### a. Once A Scientific Procedure Meets <u>Frye</u>, General Acceptance Of *Other* Scientific Procedures Does Not Preclude Admissibility Under ER 702.

In this case, the district court erroneously conflated the analysis of "helpfulness" under ER 702 with the analysis of whether a scientific principle is generally accepted under <u>Frye</u>. Despite acknowledging that the WSTLD breath test program meets <u>Frye</u> standards for accuracy and reliability, the district court held that a breath test result without a confidence interval is unhelpful to the trier of fact because the concept of measurement variability is generally accepted within the entire scientific community.

The district court's analysis was backward. To conclude that confidence intervals are a foundational requirement under <u>Frye</u> or ER 702, the district court would have had to find that breath test results *without* confidence intervals are *not* generally accepted within the relevant scientific community. The court did not—and could not—reach that conclusion based on the evidence before it. Instead, the court interpreted ER 702 to require forensic scientists

to adapt a conceptually accepted theory to a particular application of science. This was clear error.

"The rationale of the <u>Frye</u> standard, which requires general acceptance in the relevant scientific community, is that expert testimony should be presented to the trier of fact only when the scientific community has accepted the reliability of the underlying principles." <u>Copeland</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 255. The <u>Frye</u> standard recognizes that "scientists *in the field* must make the initial determination whether an experimental principle is reliable and accurate" because "judges do not have the expertise required to decide whether a challenged scientific theory is correct," and therefore "defer this judgment to scientists." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Cauthron</u>, 120 Wn.2d at 887) (emphasis added).

If a scientific principle satisfies <u>Frye</u>, the court performs a two-part analysis under ER 702. First, the court considers whether the expert qualifies as an expert, and, second, whether the expert's testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. <u>Copeland</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 256. Evidence is helpful to the trier of fact if it "will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." ER 702. "Courts generally interpret possible helpfulness to the trier of fact broadly and will favor admissibility in doubtful

- 19 -

cases." <u>Miller v. Likins</u>, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001) (quotation omitted).

The question of whether scientific evidence is "helpful" to the jury is primarily a question of *relevance*. In re Det. of Halgren, 124 Wn. App. 206, 219-20, 98 P.3d 1206 (2004); <u>State v. Greene</u>, 139 Wn.2d 64, 73, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999); <u>State v. Janes</u>, 121 Wn.2d 220, 235-36, 850 P.2d 495 (1993). ER 702 also allows the trial court to address laboratory mistakes or errors that are so serious as to render a test result unreliable in a particular case:

If there is a *precise problem* identified by the defense which would render the test *unreliable*, then the testimony might not meet the requirements of ER 702 because it would not be helpful to the trier of fact. In other words, although the possibility of a mistake or human error in a particular case is indeed pertinent, the trial court is best suited to address these factual matters.

<u>Cauthron</u>, 120 Wn.2d at 890 (emphasis added); <u>see also Copeland</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 270 ("Under ER 702, if the lab error or error rates are so serious that results are not helpful to the jury, the trial court may in its discretion rule the evidence inadmissible"); <u>Kalakosky</u>, 121 Wn.2d at 541 ("If the testimony before the trial court shows that a

given testing procedure was so flawed as to be unreliable then the

results might be excluded because they are not 'helpful to the trier of fact'").

While ER 702 allows a trial court to evaluate the relevance and reliability of evidence in any particular case, it is not a substitute for <u>Frye</u>. In this case, the district court applied a modified version of <u>Frye</u> to determine whether evidence was helpful to the trier of fact under ER 702. Specifically, the district court determined that the concept of measurement variability is generally accepted within the scientific community; therefore, it concluded that a breath test result without measurement variability is unhelpful to the trier of fact. The district court transposed the requirements of ER 702 and <u>Frye</u>, and its decision is not supported by any authority applying either rule.

The district court's reasoning is fundamentally flawed because the question under <u>Frye</u> is whether a particular scientific theory is generally accepted within the relevant scientific community, not whether other scientific theories are also generally accepted. For example, in the context of DNA analysis, the general acceptance of one statistical model does not preclude the use of another statistical model that is also generally accepted. <u>Copeland</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 1304; <u>State v. Bander</u>, 150 Wn. App. 690, 717, 208

- 21 -

P.3d 1242, 1255 (2009) ("That some forensic scientists may prefer the LR [likelihood ratio] approach to a PE [probability of exclusion] calculation is of no moment. *Frye* does not require unanimity. Just because the PE method may sit lower on some scientists' preference hierarchy does not mean that it is not generally accepted as a valid interpretive technique.").

If the court's role under <u>Frye</u> "is not to evaluate the merits of [a particular] theory," <u>Bander</u>, 150 Wn. App. at 717, then surely that is not the court's role under ER 702. Whether analyzed under <u>Frye</u> or ER 702, there is simply no authority for the district court's conclusion that general acceptance of the concept of measurement variability renders a breath test result invalid and inadmissible without an expression of that variability.

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